
 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

  BACACG 
MEETING MINUTES 

Location: BAC Head Office, 11 The Circuit, Brisbane Airport, 4008 QLD  

Date:  Tuesday 17 September 2024  

Chair Nigel Chamier AM 

Attendees Nigel Chamier (Chair) 

Tim Roskams (Community representative for Federal Seat of Brisbane) 

Matt Loveday (Community representative for Federal Seat of Bonner) 

Karilyn Beiers (Community representative for Federal Seat of Bowman) 

Dr. Sean Foley (Community representative for Federal Seat of Griffith) 

Scott Mitchell (Virgin Australia) 

Marion Lawie (Airservices Australia) 

Donna Marshall (Airservices Australia) 

Sian Balogh (BAC) 

Portia Allison (BAC) 

Daniel Yelf (BAC) 

Helen Clarke (BAC) 

Helen Woodrow (BAC) 

Rachel Crowley (BAC) 

 

Attendees 
(online) 

Caroline Hauxwell (Community representative for Federal Seat of Ryan) 

Daniel Ryan (Community representative for Federal Seat of Lilley) 

Chris Kang (Community representative for State Seat of Clayfield) 

Michael Hawkins (Community representative for Federal Seat of Dickson) 

Andrew Marshall (Federal Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional 
Development, Communications and the Arts) 

Thomas Stacey (BCC) 

Neil Bain (Airservices Australia) 

Siobhan Cornett (Airservices Australia) 

Andy Bauer (Virgin Australia) 

 

Observer: 

Rhys Moore (Archerfield Airport) 

 

Apologies  Professor Laurie Buys (Community representative for Federal Seat of Moreton) 

Joshua Kindred (Community representative for Federal Seat of Petrie) 

Brendan Mead (Qantas) 

Stefan Smerdon (ANO) 

Henry Tuttiett (BAC) 

Tim Boyle (BAC) 

 



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

AGENDA ITEMS 

10 am 

Chair: 

Welcome.  

 Acknowledgement of Country. 

Confirmed the minutes for the last BACACG meeting on the 25 June 2024. 

Chair update: 

• Welcomed Matt Loveday as the new Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Bonner 

and thanked former member Darryl Wilson for their contribution.  

• Welcomed new representative, Helen Woodrow (HW), Airspace Implementation Manager at 

BAC.     

• Welcomed new representative, Andrew Marshall (AM), Federal Department of Infrastructure, 

Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts.  

• Acknowledged Rhys Moore from Archerfield Airport as a silent observer.  

• Chair advised they have received invitations from Airservices Australia interim CEO and newly 

appointed Brisbane Airport Airspace Advisory Board (AAB) to meet and will provide any updates 

in future meeting/s.  

• Chair acknowledged the release of the Aviation White Paper since the last BACACG meeting.  

• Chair reaffirmed the topic of aircraft noise is the primary remit of the AAB, and BACACG’s remit 

is broader. 

BACACG Secretary Update: 

Sian Balogh (SB), Community Engagement Manager at BAC and BACACG Secretary, provided an 
update of incoming and outgoing correspondence to the BACACG email inbox and incoming aircraft noise 
feedback.  

SB advised that there were no outstanding actions for BAC.  

BAC Update | Passenger + Aviation & Community  

Daniel Yelf (DY), Hub Development & Analytics Manager at BAC, provided an update on aviation since 

the previous June meeting. DY advised that REX has reduced flights at BNE due to the cancellation of 

flights operated by their 737 aircraft. 114 flights per week were cancelled as a result with regional services 

remaining. One flight scheduled after 10pm was also cancelled due to the changes.   

DY advised that the September and October period is peak time for domestic travel, with significant 

sporting events, school holidays and public holidays occurring close together. DY advised of international 

growth, including new routes (notably American Airlines operating from BNE to DFW and Delta Airlines 

operating from BNE to LAX). DY advised that some new routes and additional flights will operate between 

10pm to 6am. DY advised some of the growth affecting the 10pm to 6am timing is seasonal and will be 

related to the December and January school holidays.  

Questions: 

• The Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Griffith advised concern about additional 

night-time flights and that there is no evidence that abatement procedures will be in effect. The 

representative questioned what was being done to help the community. DY advised that Emirates 

(night-time flight that is serviced by a B777 will increase capacity and be serviced by an A380) has 

agreed to take a voluntary departure tailwind of 7 knots to increase operations over the bay. Rachel 

Crowley (RC), Executive General Manager Communications and Public Affairs at BAC, advised that 

BAC is looking into a night-time policy to establish what options would work for the benefit of the 



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

community, without the effect of unintended consequences from implemented policies. RC advised 

that the nighttime policy would look at ways to reduce the impact of overnight activity while still 

meeting obligations to the public that want to travel.  

• The Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Bonner queried whether any of the evening 

flights were subsidised by the government. DY advised that the Emirates and Cathay Pacific Flights 

are subsidised through governmental programs and that the timing of the flights is associated with 

connections to further destinations, for example, transfers onto European countries. DY advised that 

earlier flights times would affect these connections and would be commercially sub-optimal. The 

representative questioned whether subsidies could be increased to cover a short fall if an early flight 

time was made as a temporary solution.  

• The Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Ryan questioned what data BAC was using 

to develop its night-time policy. RC advised that BAC is reviewing night-time operations and looking 

at operational behaviour. The representative advised that the noise monitoring data from Airservices 

Australia is not sufficient. RC advised that BAC is reviewing data related to aircraft movements, not 

noise specifically.  

• The Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Brisbane advised that the Emirates A380 

flight is not a considerate flight and was surprised that we state that Emirates are supportive of noise 

mitigation procedures.  

SB provided an update on the community engagement activities undertaken by BAC since the last 

BACACG meeting. Including: 

• Attendance with the Brisbane Airport Mobile Information Van at the Teneriffe Festival, Samford 

Show, and Luminous Festival at South Bank. 

• Partnership with United Airlines and Aviation Australia to deliver Immersion Expereince Program for 

aviation students.  

• Therapy Dogs in the terminals during the School Holidays. 

• Support and involvement with the Forgotten Women’s Live Like Her Challenge at the Skygate 

precinct.  

Brisbane Airport Master Plan update  

 
Helen Clarke (HC), Program Manager – 2026 Master Plan at BAC, provided an update on the 2026 
Master Plan. The 2026 Master Plan relates to the development plans to support the future growth of 
Brisbane airport. HC advised that in accordance with the Airports Act community consultation will occur 
before it is submitted to the government for approval. 
 
The Master Plan will look at the next 20 years and set out what is needed in terms of infrastructure. HC 
advised that long term estimates of passenger numbers in the next 20 years indicate 18 million 
international passengers and 38 million domestic passengers per year. Estimates also indicate an 
increase to 55,000 employees onsite across an estimated 1100 business.  These forecasts are derived 
from macroeconomic indicators and also consider population forecasts released by the Queensland 
Government on the number of residents within Brisbane and Queensland. 
 
HC advised the Master Plan considers what services and facilities will be required to support the growth 
in passenger numbers and additional workforce. HC advised key aspects of the master plan will include 
terminal planning, decarbonisation, and connectivity for public and active transport users. HC advised 
the planning of Terminal 3 is also included in the Master Plan. HC advised climate change and 
adaptation is a significant consideration, while BAC will reach scope 1 and 2 emissions decarbonisation 
in 2025 the Master Plan will also look at ways to support other organisations in achieving 
decarbonisation targets. 

 
HC advised that airspace and aircraft noise is included in the Master Plan through noise contours and 
the use of ANEF contours. HC advised that ANEF is a land use planning tool supplied to the 
Queensland Government and Brisbane City Council (BCC) to be used as a part of building approvals 



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

and developments in the vicinity of Brisbane Airport. HC advised that under requirements for the 
National Airport Safeguarding Framework that noise above contours will also be included.  

 
HC advised that community consultation will begin around the middle of 2025. HC advised that the 
current timeline indicates a final Master Plan is anticipated by mid-2026. 
 
Questions: 

• The Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Ryan questioned whether the ANEF contours 

and modelling will include areas over the wider Brisbane region, and if there were any plans for the 

crosswind runway. HC advised that the crosswind runway has been decommissioned and there are 

no plans for that runway in the Master Plan. HC advised that parts of the National Airport 

Safeguarding Framework talk to information that would be beneficial for the community which go 

beyond the ANEF contours. HC advised that BAC continues to talk to BCC about aircraft noise and 

how it is considered in development applications. The representative indicated that upon building 

their property there was no communication about noise from BCC of which BCC indicated that the 

information was not available or provided. 

• The Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Brisbane questioned what BAC was doing 

regarding noise mitigation with the forecasted increase in passengers and aircraft traffic. The 

representative indicated that quieter aircraft and ANEF contours are not sufficient. The representative 

also advised that existing noise monitoring conducted by the airport does not represent the 

experience of community members. HC advised that the purpose of the Master Plan relates to on-

airport infrastructure. The representative queried whether the Legacy Runway could be extended. 

RC (Rachel Crowley) advised that the approach lines are in wetland and there is no extra space to 

extend closer to the water. HC confirmed that there is no medium or long term need to extend the 

existing runways.  The representative expressed concern that the Master Plan did not include noise 

mitigation measures. The representative questioned if the Terminal 3 development would allow the 

use of the crosswind runway. RC advised that the crosswind runway is not an option and CASA 

restrictions made it unusable at night prior to it being decommissioned. 

• The Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Griffith questioned what the Master Plan will 

do in relation to legislative requirements for decreases in emissions. RC advised that BAC will meet 

net zero for scope 1 and 2 emissions in 2025, with scope 3 emissions being aircraft fuel and other 

organisations onsite. RC advised information about BAC’s sustainability programs will be shared 

through the BACACG Secretariat to him. 

  

Federal Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the 

Arts Update 

Andrew Marshall (AM), Director QLD, SA & NT Airports with the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, 

Regional Development, Communications and the Arts, advised they are new to the role and will be in a 

position to provide an update, including information about the release of the Aviation White Paper, in the 

next meeting.  

Airservices Australia Update  

Marion Lawie (ML), Airservices Australia, provide an update on the Noise Complaint and Information 

(NCIS) and Noise Action Plan for Brisbane (NAP4B). ML advised that noise complaint data for the 

previous months is available through ‘Aircraft in Your Neighbourhood’. ML advised that Airservices saw 

an increase in complaints in August and received calls from the community regarding runway works on 

the Legacy Runway which occurred from July to September 2024.  

ML provided an explanation of the types of engagement used during the different phases of the NAP4B 

(appendix 1). ML provided an update on Phase 4 which was completed in July 2024, Airservices received 

256 submissions from 76 suburbs, with 190 attendees across 5 drop-in sessions and 3 webinars. ML 
also provided an interim update on Phase 5 engagement and advised that overall engagement during 

Phase 5 was higher than previous phases as the scope was broader and accompanied with a mail out, 

which has allowed for new people to be involved in the engagement process. ML advised that new 



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

engagement comes with the challenge of educating members of the public on specific aviation conditions 

and requirements, which requires time and resources. ML advised that Phase 5 had only just completed 

and specific data is not currently available.  

 

Community Representative General Business and Discussion  

The Chair advised that additional time had been allocated for questioned raised by the Community 

Representative for the Federal Seat of Brisbane, including:  

• Q&A on Airservices' engagement of and result of TRAX's design of the new phase 3 concepts of the 

Noise Action Plan for Brisbane and subsequent actions/timelines  

• Q&A on Noise Action Plan Package 3 and the lack of meaningful relief from “slight” changes  

• Q&A on Noise Action Plan Package 4 progress update  

• Q&A on revisiting the Noise Abatement Procedure for Departing flights that keeps aircraft on SIDs 

and ATC procedures to Vector to share noise  

• Q&A on noise sensitive sites including schools/childcare centres/low ambient noise  

Community discussion: 

• Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Brisbane  

The representative questioned whether Webtrak uses ‘satellite geospatial data’ or the scheduled 

flight path when it shows the path of the aircraft. ML advised that Webtrak uses radar data and shows 

the accurate tracks of the aircraft.  

The representative advised that community members that are within 20km of the airport see limited 

options within Phase 4 package 3 for them and would prefer the option within package 4 for the 

redesign of the airspace. ML advised that not actioning package 3 would be unfortunate for residents 

that would benefit from it. ML advised that not actioning package 3 would not necessarily bring 

package 4 closer as TRAX is exploring both packages simultaneously.  

The representative questioned what evidence and/or justification metric is used by Airservices to 

determine how to share aircraft noise and what method does Airservices use to determine whether 

sharing aircraft noise will reduce overall harm. ML advised that package 4 would not solve all noise 

concerns, as people will still be exposed to noise. ML advised that NAP4B is not reducing noise and 

instead is about frequency and concentration. ML advised TRAX has developed a heatmap showing 

frequency and concentration of noise but is not a measure or model of noise, the heatmap is used 

to identify high frequency and concentration which can be addressed by changes to the flight paths.  

The representative advised that the heatmap does not differentiate between the impact of noise 

during the day and noise at night. ML advised that the heatmap is a blunt tool and once areas have 

been identified they will be interrogated further for more specific details like decibel and time of day 

impacts.  

The representative questioned how Airservices will come to the decision on over how many people 

and how frequently aircraft will fly. The representative advised there was no evident metric to 

determine what is fair and equitable. Donna Marshall (DM), Airservices Australia, advised that a 

range of criteria will be considered, however Airservices acknowledged that not everyone will agree 

with any decision made. DM advised that Airservices will consider impacts like, ambient noise, 

previous noise exposure, day versus night noise, aircraft type, jet versus non-jet aircraft, etc. DM 

advised that Airservices will review the best outcome however there is no specific equation as it is a 

subjective assessment. DM advised that feedback has shown that specific communities should not 

be without noise where others receive it.  

The representative questioned whether residents that are aligned with the runway and/or live close 

to the airport won’t get relief. DM advised that package 4 would assist residents aligned with the 

runway, but package 3 does not include the movement of way points. DM advised that runway 



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

alignment requirements are an international aviation safety requirement and cannot be offset more 

than 15 degrees per those requirements.  

• Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Dickson  

The representative advised that their community of Samford is well represented on the Brisbane 

Airport Airspace Advisory Board (AAB) and does not need to discuss the topic of aircraft noise in the 

BACACG forum. The representative advised that they would like the topic of noise to be balanced 

with other airport activities.  

• Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Lilley 

The representative advised that the Lilley Electorate Office met with Airservices and wanted to pass 

along their thanks for the meeting. The representative advised there was a small increase in resident 

concerns, residents were provided fact sheets and directed to the Airservices website.  

• Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Bonner  

The representative advised they were impacted by the opening on the NPR. The representative 

advised that feedback from the community to the Federal Member for Bonner is that there is not 

enough significant change to benefit the community. The representative advised that the community 

would like to see package 3 accept the maximum 15-degrees of an offset for proposed flight path 

splits. The representative advised that the proposed 6 degrees is not sufficient for noise sharing. The 

representative advised of a split of a specific flight path proposed in package 3 to include more than 

1 split. DM advised that the feedback was technical and would need to be referred directly to TRAX 

for consideration. DM advised that the 15-degree offset is more related to the departures from the 

runway rather than specific flight paths. The representative queried whether the option would be 

possible under package 4. ML advised that package 4 would be more suitable to exploring the 

proposal.  

The representative questioned whether a progress report could be provided for package 4 as it has 

been worked on for ‘years’. DM advised that package had not been worked on for ‘years’ and that 

due to COVID Airservices had to wait for a year per normal process before a review could start. DM 

advised that as the first year of operations was during COVID there were not enough regular 

operations to commence a review. DM advised that the Post Implementation Review (PIR) was 

completed at the end of 2022 and Airservices has been working through the recommendations since 

the beginning of 2023, and Airservices has only been able to work through the recommendations for 

a year and a half. DM advised that when TRAX commenced work, they started reviewing both 

package 3 and package 4 but do not yet have any concepts to share with the community on package 

4. DM advised that when TRAX has information for the public, it will be shared, with current timing 

anticipated for middle of 2025. DM advised that the process for developing new flight paths is typically 

a 4-year process. DM advised that the current review is being done in a much shorter timeframe as 

it is a focus and is based on already understood operational requirements.  

The representative questioned whether feedback, similar to information provided about the inclusion 

of way point locations in package 4, could be provided to the community. DM advised that the 

information about what is being considered as a part of package 4 is covered in the NAP4B and there 

is not currently additional information to be shared. ML advised they will circulate the NAP4B 

document that has explanation of what topics and matters package 4 includes.  

The representative queried whether the noise abatement procedure for departures off 19L is to stop 

vectoring, and whether vectoring could be a short-term solution until package 4. DM advised that 

vectoring is a divisive topic and there is not a consensus on whether aircraft should vector or if they 

should stay on the published flight path for as long as possible. DM advised that vectoring is a 

standard tool for air traffic controllers, and controllers can vector aircraft above a certain point to 

avoid conflicts with other aircraft, to avoid weather, and a range of other reasons. DM advised that 

there are flight paths that are more subject to vectoring, including flight paths with more traffic. DM 

advised that a decision on vectoring has not been made.  

• Community Representative for the State Seat of Clayfield 

The representative advised that the Pinkenba Community Association (PCA) is awaiting a follow up 

from the BCC regarding upgrades to the intersection of Lomandra Drive and Eagle Farm Road. 



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

The representative advised they have concerns about projects in the next 6-12 months impacting 

the intersection further as they already find difficulty with turning right at the intersection. The 

representative advised they are aware BCC works with BAC but would appreciate communication 

directly to the PCA. Thomas Stacey (TS), Brisbane City Council, advised they would take the 

request on notice and seek additional information.  

• Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Bowman 

The representative advised of comments made by Melbourne Airport’s CEO with regard to the 

approval of Melbourne’s Third Runway, that indicate Melbourne would learn from Brisbane Airport 

and work with the community on the development.  

The representative provided details on their experience in the Redlands and with aircraft noise 

(appendix 2).  

• Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Griffith  

The representative queried why a flight departure the previous evening departed over the city when 

the weather was calm and there was minimal traffic. The representative advised the decibel 

recoding was 77.8 dba. The representative also questioned which agency was responsible for 

making sure that aircraft did not exceed the maximum take-off weight and advised that aircraft 

were being overloaded. DM advised that aircraft are not being overloaded. Scott Marshall (SM), 

Virgin Australia, advised that aircraft are not overloaded, and it is not legal to do so. The 

representative advised that aircraft are lower and that there is anecdotal evidence. DM advised that 

maximum take-off weight is not exceeded and the height of which an aircraft flies is related to 

destination, type of aircraft, etc. DM advised that height is not under a noise abatement and falls to 

the pilot to decide on whether the aircraft can meet the height for the published flight paths or if it is 

safe to complete a radar departure. SM advised that based on reports of the wind conditions for the 

previous evening there was a tailwind that would have limited the ability for the aircraft identified by 

the representative to depart over the water. DM advised it is not the preference for aircraft to go 

over the city, however it is sometimes necessary due to weather conditions, aircraft type, runway 

lengthy, etc. SM advised that there is a limit of how heavy an aircraft can be, and that heavier 

aircraft may need the full length of a runway for take-off.  

General Business:  

The Community Representative for the Federal Seat of Brisbane advised they will submit questions for 

Airservices’ response. DM advised that Airservices has received a significant number of written 

requests and due to resourcing and capacity limits cannot provide a firm timeline on when a written 

response will be provided to the representative. The representative questioned whether Airservices 

plans to provide N-Above contours for the whole city that are scalable at different decibel levels. ML 

advised that Airservices does not have the capacity to complete the request. DM advised that the 

request will be taken on notice, however there is significant challenge due to the contours changing 

based on different operations.  

Close Meeting | Final Comments from Chair 

Meeting closed at 12:10pm.  

 

Next meeting 26th November – Action items below carried forward to next meeting. 

 

Action Items Owner(s) Deadline Status 

Noise monitor raw data:  AA is continuing discussions with the 
AAB on how to approach raw noise data, and an update will 
be provided at next meeting. 

AA Ongoing In progress 



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

BACACG Secretary to speak with Electorate Offices to confirm 
they are aware of how to communicate matters to BACACG 
members.  

BAC Ongoing  In progress 

BACACG Secretary to share Sustainability Program information 
with the Community Representative for the Federal Seat of 
Griffith. 

BAC Next 
meeting 

Complete 

Airservices to share NAP4B document outlining scope of 
package 3 and package 4. 

AA Next 
meeting 

Complete  



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1. 

 



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 2.  

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

 


